

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973

Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990*

*Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act of 2008

(*effective January 1, 2009)

January - 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	3
The Meaning of Disability Under Section 504	3
Physical or mental impairments	3
Major life activities	4
Mitigating measures	5
Substantial limitations	6
Episodic impairments	6
Record of a disability	6
Regarded as having a disability	7
Qualified individual with a disability	7
An Overview of a Free Appropriate Public Education	8
Student Evaluations and Placement Under Section 504	9
Additional Considerations for Placement and Services Under Section 504	12
Athletics and Extracurricular Activities	12
Physical Accessibility	13
Additional Protections from Discrimination	14
Bullying and Harassment	16
Disputes and Disagreements Regarding FAPE and non-FAPE Matters	18
Procedural Safeguards	18
Grievance Procedures	19
Retaliation	20
Title II and IDEA	20
Conclusion	23
Scenarios 1 through 11	25 - 31
Appendix – Winthrop Documents	31 - 44

INTRODUCTION

Section 504 is a Federal law that prohibits disability discrimination by recipients of Federal financial assistance. All public schools and school districts that receive Federal financial assistance from the Department must comply with Section 504.

This procedural manual was developed using:

U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights, *Parent and Educator Resource Guide to Section 504 in Public Elementary and Secondary Schools* (December 2016).

Section 504 provides a broad spectrum of protections against discrimination based on disability. For example, all qualified elementary and secondary public-school students who meet the definition of an individual with a disability under Section 504 are entitled to receive regular or special education and related aids and services that are designed to meet their individual educational needs as adequately as the needs of students without disabilities are met. Section 504 also requires, among other things, that a student with a disability receive an equal opportunity to participate in athletics and extracurricular activities, and to be free from bullying and harassment based on disability.

The Meaning of Disability Under Section 504

Below is a discussion of what it means to be a student or individual with a disability, and of related terms that help to comprehensively define *disability* as it is used in Section 504 and its implementing regulations.

Disability. Under Section 504, an individual with a disability (also referred to as a *student with a disability* in the elementary and secondary education context) is defined as a person who: (1) has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits a major life activity; (2) has a record of such an impairment; or (3) is regarded as having such an impairment.

The determination of whether a student has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits a major life activity (and therefore has a disability) must be made on a case by case basis. In addition, when determining if someone meets the definition of a disability, the definition must be understood to provide broad coverage of individuals.

Physical or mental impairments. Section 504 defines a physical or mental impairment as any

- physiological disorder or condition,
- cosmetic disfigurement, or
- anatomical loss affecting one or more of the following body systems: neurological; musculoskeletal; special sense organs; respiratory, including speech organs; cardiovascular; reproductive; digestive; genito-urinary; hemic and lymphatic; skin; and endocrine. The Section 504 definition of physical and mental impairment also includes any mental or psychological disorder. The definition does not include all specific diseases and conditions that may

be physical or mental impairments because of the difficulty of ensuring the completeness of such a list.

Major life activities.

To summarize, major life activities include certain acts a person does (such as hearing, speaking, lifting) and a person's bodily functions (such as lung disease that affects a person's respiratory system, or a traumatic brain injury that affects the function of the brain).

The list of major life activities under Section 504 includes, but is not limited to, the activities listed below.

- caring for oneself
- performing manual tasks
- seeing
- hearing
- eating
- sleeping
- walking
- standing
- lifting

- bending
- speaking
- breathing
- learning
- reading
- concentrating
- thinking
- communicating
- working

Major bodily functions are also major life activities under the law, and these major bodily functions include functions of the bowel, bladder, and brain; normal cell growth; and the immune, endocrine (for example, thyroid, pituitary, and pancreas), respiratory, reproductive, circulatory, digestive, and neurological systems.

These lists, however, do not provide every possible major life activity or bodily function; therefore, if an activity or bodily function is not listed in the Amendments Act, it might still be considered a major life activity under Section 504.

For example, if a school provides a form with a list of major life activities to consider during an evaluation process, a student may still have a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits a major life activity even if the activity is not listed on the school's form.

School staff should note that a student may have a disability and be eligible for Section 504 services even if his or her disability does not limit the major life activity of learning.

Therefore, rather than considering only how an impairment affects a student's ability to learn, school staff must also consider how the impairment affects *any* major life activity of the student and, if necessary, assess what is needed to ensure that students have an equal opportunity to participate in the school's programs.

For example: (1) a student with a visual impairment who cannot read regular print with glasses is substantially limited in the major life activity of seeing; (2) a student with an orthopedic impairment who cannot walk is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking; and (3) a student with diabetes who requires insulin injections is substantially limited in the operation of a major bodily function, the endocrine system. These students would have to be evaluated, as described in the Section 504 regulations, to determine whether they need special education and/or related services.

School staff should note that a student may have a disability and be eligible for Section 504 services, including modifications, even if the student earns good grades.

This is because the student's impairment may substantially limit a major life activity regardless of whether the student performs well academically, and the student may need special education or related aids and services because of this disability.

For example, a student who has dyslexia and is substantially limited in reading finds it challenging to read the required class material in a timely manner. Alternatively, a student who has been diagnosed with depression may be substantially limited in her ability to concentrate while completing school assignments. In both cases, the student spends far more time preparing for class than other students and earns good grades because of the student's intelligence and extreme efforts. The student would still be substantially limited in the major life activity of reading despite earning good grades and may require a multi-sensory approach to learning, and additional time to complete in-class tests or quizzes, even if that student earns mostly A's.

Mitigating measures. When determining if a person has a disability, a school cannot consider the ameliorative effects of mitigating measures when determining how the impairment impacts the major life activities under consideration.

For example, a student with low vision (unable to read typical size print with ordinary eyeglasses or contacts) who is able to read using a computer program that enlarges the font size of documents is still a person with a disability, even though the computer program permits the student to diminish the impact of his or her low vision and read lessons and other materials for school.

The Amendments Act provides a non-comprehensive list of mitigating measures: medications; prosthetic devices (for example, an artificial arm); assistive devices (for example, computer modifications that increase accessibility, wheelchairs, scooters, walkers, canes, and crutches); learned behavior; and adaptive neurological modifications that an individual may use to eliminate or reduce the effects of an impairment.

Note that the use of ordinary eyeglasses or contacts is the one exception to the mitigating measure rule. In other words, if a person's vision is corrected with ordinary eyeglasses or contacts, the school may consider how the eyeglasses or contacts help the student see when deciding about whether the student has a disability based on seeing.

Substantial limitation. The determination of substantial limitation must be made on a case-by-case basis with respect to each individual student. Section 504 requires that, for elementary and secondary school students, a group of knowledgeable persons draw upon information from a variety of sources in making this determination.

The group of knowledgeable persons is often called a *Section 504 Team*.

The Amendments Act also requires, however, that in making that determination under Section 504, the beneficial effects of mitigating measures (other than ordinary eyeglasses and contact lenses) must not be considered. For example, school districts must determine if a student with asthma has a disability without considering how an inhaler affects the student's major life activities such as breathing and talking.

Episodic impairments. If an impairment only occurs periodically (that is, it is episodic) or is in remission, it is a disability if, when in an active phase, it would substantially limit a major life activity. For example, a student with epilepsy is a student with a disability if, during a seizure, the student is substantially limited in a major life activity such as thinking, breathing, or neurological function. Or, a student with bipolar disorder is a person with a disability if, during manic or depressive episodes, the student is substantially limited in a major life activity such as concentrating or brain function.

Record of a disability. To meet the Section 504 definition of an individual with a disability, a student could also *have a record of* a disability. For example, a person who had heart disease, cancer, or a mental illness, may have a record of a disability, but no longer have the impairment. Having *a record of a disability* means that a person either has a history of a disability or has been misclassified as having a mental or physical impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities. An example of a misclassification is a school district that incorrectly identified a student as having a learning disability, when further testing revealed the student's issues where caused by the need for ordinary eyeglasses and the student does not have a learning disability.

A student who has a record of a disability may or may not need special education or related aids and services. Section 504 does not obligate a school district to provide aids or services that a student does not need. But, even if a student with a disability does not need services, the student is protected from disability-based discrimination under Section 504's general non-discrimination requirements.

Regarded as having a disability. A student could also meet the definition of an individual with a disability by being *regarded as* a person with a disability. This could mean, for example, that the student does not have any impairment, but is treated by others as having a disability.

For example, a person who does not have a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits a major life activity but who is not allowed on the soccer team because of the false belief that the student has the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) would be regarded as having a disability. Note, as stated previously, although the student with HIV in this instance is not entitled to receive aids and services, the student is nevertheless protected from disability-based discrimination under Section 504's general non-discrimination requirements.

An individual does not fall within the definition as someone regarded as having a disability if the physical or mental impairment is transitory (that is, having an actual or expected duration of six months or less) and minor. For example, if a person has a broken leg but is expected to fully recover within six weeks, and the injury is considered minor, that person is *not* regarded as a person with a disability even if others treat the person as if he or she has a disability.

Note, while Section 504 does not require a school to take specific action if a student has a physical or mental impairment that is transitory and minor, Section 504 also does not prohibit schools from going beyond what the law requires to assist a student.

The school district could, for example, allow the student to take a bus to school, when the student with the broken leg typically walks to school, or provide a pass to allow the student to use the faculty elevator—which is typically off-limits for students—while the student uses crutches.

Qualified individual with a disability. Finally, in addition to satisfying the definition of an individual with a disability, a student with a disability must also be qualified for the protections of Section 504 to be covered under the law. For students with disabilities at the elementary and secondary level, being qualified under Section 504 is based primarily on whether the person is a certain age.

Specifically, a student with a disability is a qualified individual with a disability if the student is of an age at which: (1) students without disabilities are provided elementary and secondary educational services; or (2) it is mandatory under State law to provide elementary and secondary educational services to students with disabilities.

A student with a disability is also a qualified individual with a disability if he or she is a student to whom a State is required to provide a free appropriate public education (FAPE) under the IDEA, another Federal education law that addresses the rights of students with disabilities.

An Overview of a Free Appropriate Public Education

Section 504 and the IDEA contain requirements for FAPE for students with disabilities, but there are some differences. Under the IDEA, FAPE is a statutory term. It requires a school district to develop an individualized education program (IEP) for each eligible student with a disability that sets out, among other information, the student's program of special education and related services. In this section, however, we discuss the FAPE requirements under Section 504 only.

All elementary and secondary school students who are qualified individuals with disabilities, as defined by Section 504, and who need special education and/or related aids and services are entitled to FAPE. Under Section 504, FAPE is the provision of regular or special education and related aids and services that are designed to meet the individual educational needs of students with disabilities as adequately as the needs of non-disabled students are met and are based on adherence to procedures governing educational setting, evaluation and placement, and procedural safeguards. Implementation of an IEP developed in accordance with the IDEA is one means of meeting the Section 504 FAPE standard.

Though not explicitly required by the Department's Section 504 regulations, school districts often document the elements of an individual student's FAPE under Section 504 in a document, typically referred to as a *Section 504 Plan*.

In general, a *Section 504 Plan* describes the regular or special education and related aids and services a student needs and the appropriate setting in which to receive those services.

A written Section 504 Plan is often a useful way to document that the school district engaged in a process to identify and address the needs of a student with a disability and to communicate, to school personnel, the information needed for successful implementation. OCR encourages schools to document a student's Section 504 services in a written plan to help avoid misunderstandings or confusion about what Section 504 services the school offered the student. Note, however, that IDEA-eligible students with disabilities who have an IEP are not required to also have a Section 504 plan even though they are protected under Section 504. For these students, the IEP developed and implemented in accordance with the IDEA is sufficient.

Under Section 504, FAPE must be provided free of charge to students with disabilities. Schools may impose fees on a student with a disability only if the fees are equally imposed on students without disabilities. For example, fees to cover the cost of a field trip that apply to all students are fees a school can charge to a student with a disability.

Key features of FAPE under Section 504 include:

• Evaluation and placement procedures that guard against misclassification or inappropriate placement of students;

- Periodic reevaluation of students who have been provided special education or related services and prior to a significant change in placement;
- Provision of regular or special education and related aids and services that are designed so that the individual educational needs of students with disabilities are met as adequately as the needs of non-disabled students are met;
- Education of students with disabilities with non-disabled students—to the maximum extent that this arrangement is appropriate for the needs of students with disabilities;
- A system of procedural safeguards (that is designed to inform parents of a school district's actions or decisions and to provide parents with a process for challenging those actions or decisions) that include notice; an opportunity for parents to review their child's records; an impartial due process hearing (with an opportunity for participation by the student's parents or guardians and representation by counsel); and a review procedure.

Student Evaluations and Placement Under Section 504

Under Section 504, school districts must conduct an evaluation in a timely manner of any student who needs or is believed to need special education or related services because of a disability. When a school is aware of a student's disability or has reason to suspect a student has a disability, and the student needs or is believed to need special education or related services, it would be a violation of Section 504 if the school delays or denies the evaluation.

In some circumstances, the IDEA evaluation process may provide the school district with the necessary information, required by Section 504, to determine whether a student has a disability, and whether that student needs related aids and services or supplementary aids and services in the regular education environment because of that disability. However, if a State or school district uses a separate process for evaluating the needs of students under Section 504, it must follow the requirements for evaluation specified in the Section 504 regulations.

A school district must evaluate a student if it has reason to believe the student has a disability and the student needs special education or related services because of that disability, even if the student only exhibits behavioral (and not academic) challenges.

For example, those students who have several discipline referrals for inappropriate verbal outbursts in class, as compared to their peers, could be students with disabilities in need of services. Some students, due to an unaddressed disability, may engage in behaviors that do not conform to school codes of conduct because the students are not receiving needed special education or related aids and services, including needed services to address behavior. These and other indications that a student's behavior is out of the expected range of behaviors for students of similar age may trigger a school district's obligation to evaluate under Section 504 to determine whether the student has a disability and needs special education or related services because of that disability.

A school district must, at no cost to parents, evaluate students who are suspected of having a disability, or more than one disability, in all related or all specific areas of educational need. For example, a student who is easily distracted and unfocused may be manifesting attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), depression, or a specific learning disability. There is a range of physical or mental impairments that could cause a student to have a disability under Section 504 and to need special education or related services because of that disability, but this determination cannot be made without first evaluating the student.

If a school district determines, based on the facts and circumstances of the individual case, that a medical assessment is necessary to conduct a Section 504 individual evaluation in order to determine whether a child has a disability under Section 504 and needs special education or related services because of a disability, the school district must ensure that the student receives this assessment at no cost to the student's parents.51 When determining if the student has a disability and needs special education or related aids and services, school districts are also required to have procedures to ensure that evaluation information is documented and carefully considered.

In OCR's investigative experience, school districts sometimes rely on a student's average, or better-than-average, classroom grades or grade point average (GPA) and, as a result, make inappropriate decisions. For example, a school district might wrongly assume that a student with an above-average GPA does not have a disability and therefore fail to conduct a Section 504 evaluation of that student, even if the school suspects that the student has ADHD or the school is aware that the student has been diagnosed with ADHD outside of school.

However, a student with a disability may achieve a high level of academic success but may nevertheless be substantially limited in a major life activity due to the student's impairment because of the additional time or effort the student must spend to read, write, or learn compared to others.

School districts must have standards and procedures to evaluate students who may have a disability and need special education or related services. The evaluation of a student, however, must be individualized. Although Section 504 does not require a specific process, the standards and procedures must meet certain requirements. Specifically, the evaluation standards and procedures must ensure that:

- Evaluations consist of more than IQ tests;
- Evaluations measure specific areas of educational need. These could include speech processing, inability to concentrate, and behavioral concerns;
- Tests are selected and administered to the student in a manner that best ensures that the test results accurately reflect the student's aptitude or achievement, or other factor being measured, rather than reflect the student's disability, except where those are the factors being measured;
- Tests and other evaluation materials are validated for the specific purpose for which they are used; and

• Tests are appropriately administered by trained personnel.

If a parent believes his or her child has a disability, the parent may ask, for example, a principal, counselor, social worker, or teacher to arrange for an evaluation of the student. Through the Section 504-compliant evaluation process, a knowledgeable group of people will determine if the student has a disability and, if so, what services the student needs.

Although a parent does not have an absolute right to a Section 504 evaluation upon request, a school must evaluate a student if the school has reason to believe the student is in need of special education or related services because of a disability.

School districts violate Section 504 when they deny or delay conducting an evaluation of a student when it would have been reasonable for a staff member to have suspected that a student has a disability and needs special education or related services because of that disability.

If the school does not agree to evaluate the student, the school must inform the parent of his or her right to challenge the school's decision. If a parent disagrees with any decisions regarding the identification, evaluation, or educational placement of his or her child, the parent may seek an impartial hearing (often called a *due process hearing*) that provides the parent with an opportunity to participate and permits representation by an attorney and a review procedure.

A parent may have a specialist or other educational professional, who is independent of the school, test his or her child. School districts are required to consider information from a variety of sources in interpreting evaluation data and in making placement decisions, and the independent evaluation is another source that makes up the universe of information about the student.

In determining a student's needs, sources to consider include aptitude and achievement tests, teacher recommendations, physical condition, social or cultural background, and adaptive behavior.

Other information that the school district must also consider is a medical diagnosis or the results of a medical assessment obtained by the school district. If a district believes a medical assessment is necessary and the parent volunteers to pay for a private assessment, the district must make it clear that the parent has a choice and can choose to accept a school-furnished assessment at no cost to the parent.

Section 504 is silent on the form of parental consent required. OCR has accepted written consent as compliance. Making a request in writing can help avoid misunderstandings between parents and school districts and could help to prove or disprove a related allegation in the event a parent decides to file a formal civil rights complaint against a school district in the future.

OCR interprets Section 504 to require informed parental consent for the initial evaluation. If a parent refuses consent for an initial evaluation and a recipient school district suspects a student has a disability, OCR interprets Section 504 to allow school districts to use due process hearing procedures to seek to override the parents' denial of consent. OCR also urges schools to allow for parental participation when considering any change in the student's Section 504 provision of FAPE, including location of services.

Additional Considerations for Placement and Services Under Section 504

Students who are identified as having a disability and needing special education and/or related aids and services are entitled to special education and a broad range of supplemental and related aids and services, as needed, such as tutors, note-takers, or one-on-one aides; assistive technology, psychological and counseling services; or speech or occupational therapy.

To the extent that services and aids, or changes to policies and procedures (for example, allowing testing accommodations such as extended time for exams) for a student with a disability can be implemented by a student's regular education teacher, the regular education teacher is responsible for implementing them.

For example, a regular education teacher may need to provide a student with a disability an outline of the teacher's lecture, permit the student to sit in the front of the classroom, or allow the student to turn in homework late.

However, the school district is ultimately responsible for ensuring there are sufficient qualified personnel available to provide the supplemental and related aids and services.

Students with disabilities must be educated with students who do not have disabilities to the maximum extent appropriate to the needs of the student with a disability. In addition, school districts must place students with disabilities in the regular education environment unless the school district demonstrates that educating the student with a disability in the regular education environment with the use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily. In implementing the decision of a group of knowledgeable persons to place a student in a setting other than the regular educational environment, the school must consider the proximity of the alternate setting to the student's home.

Athletics and Extracurricular Activities

School districts must provide non-academic services and activities in a manner that provides students with disabilities an equal opportunity for participation. This requirement includes activities such as extracurricular athletics and special interest groups or clubs sponsored by the school district.

School districts must afford qualified students with disabilities an equal opportunity for participation in extracurricular athletics in an integrated manner to the maximum extent appropriate to the needs of the student. This requirement means that a school district must make reasonable modifications to its policies, practices, or procedures whenever such modifications are necessary to ensure equal opportunity, unless the school district can demonstrate that the requested modification would constitute a fundamental alteration of the nature of the extracurricular athletic activity.

The fact that a student has a disability does not mean that the student must be allowed to participate in any selective or competitive program offered by a school district. Rather, school districts may require a level of skill or ability of a student for that student to participate in a selective or competitive program or activity, so long as the selection or competition criteria are not discriminatory.

In considering whether a reasonable modification is legally required, the school district must first engage in an individualized inquiry to determine whether the modification is necessary. As a result of this inquiry, a school district may find, for example, that a hard-of-hearing sprinter needs a visual cue at the start of each race because he or she cannot hear the starter's pistol, or that staff must administer a glucose test and insulin, as necessary, to a student with diabetes in order to facilitate his or her participation in an after school club activity.

On the other hand, a modification might constitute a fundamental alteration if it alters such an essential aspect of the activity or game that it would be unacceptable even if it affected all competitors equally (for example, removing a base from a baseball diamond). Alternatively, a change that has only a peripheral impact on the activity or game itself might nevertheless give a player with a disability an unfair advantage over others and, for that reason, fundamentally alter the character of the competition (for example, allowing a student with a disability to start a race a few seconds before his non-disabled peers). Such changes would not be required under Section 504.

Physical Accessibility

School districts are required to ensure that students and others with disabilities, including parents, are not denied access to the school's programs or activities because of inaccessible facilities, including academic buildings, walkways, restrooms, athletic facilities, and parking spaces. The requirements public schools must meet to ensure programs and activities are accessible depends on the date a building (or facility) was built (constructed) or altered (changes made to a building that affect its use for accessibility purposes).

Under Section 504, for facilities constructed prior to June 4, 1977, program access is required. In general terms, program access means that, although the facility or parts of the facility may not be physically accessible, the public school must still make its programs and activities available to students with disabilities. For example, if stairs lead to the upper floors of a school and the school does not have an elevator, ramp, or chair lift, and a student with a disability is unable to traverse the stairs, the student will be unable to reach the upper floors. A resolution to this problem could be moving classes that the student needs (or wants) to take from the upper floors to the accessible ground floor during the time the student with a disability takes the class.

Under Section 504, facilities (such as buildings) that were built or altered on or after June 4, 1977, are referred to as new construction. Specific construction and design standards apply to these facilities. The construction and design standards provide information, for example, about the required width of bathroom stalls, how steep a ramp may be, and the required height of countertops and tables. The construction and design standards have evolved over time, and the date of construction or alteration determines which accessibility requirements apply. For construction or alteration work that began on public schools on or after March 15, 2012, the 2010 ADA Standards for Accessible Design (2010 ADA Standards) apply.

However, when a public school is required to meet the accessibility requirements of a specific design standard, such as the 2010 ADA Standards, compliance with the standard alone may not be sufficient to meet an individual student's needs. When this occurs, the public school has an obligation to provide access for the student. For example, if the main entrance to the school has a ramp that meets all of the required accessibility standards, but a student who attends the school and uses leg braces is unable to traverse the ramp, the school would need to find another way to ensure the student has access to its program and activities. One solution could be to allow the student to use the faculty entrance that has a flat entrance and a short walkway to the entrance door.

Additional Protections from Discrimination

Public school students with disabilities have the right to be free from discrimination based on disability; are entitled to an equal opportunity regardless of disability; and have the right to aids, benefits, or services, equal to and as effective as those provided to students without disabilities.

In some situations, providing an equal opportunity (that is, providing aids, benefits, or services that are as effective as those provided to others) requires *different* treatment for a student with a disability. For example, if all students are provided with hard copy textbooks, a student who is blind would need the textbooks in a different format (for example, Braille, large print, or an accessible electronic format) to have equal access to the information in the textbook. The special education and/or related aids and services provided to students under Section 504 FAPE is another example.

Students with disabilities must be provided different or separate aid, benefits, or services, however, only when it is necessary so that the aid, benefits, or services are as effective as those provided to others. For aid, benefits, or services to be equally effective, public school students with disabilities must be afforded an equal opportunity to obtain the same result, to gain the same benefit, or to reach the same level of achievement in the most integrated setting appropriate to a student's needs.

For example, a school district's bus transportation schedule that requires a 20-minute early departure for administrative convenience (rather than, for example, possible health- or education-related reasons) for students with disabilities who need a wheelchair-accessible bus but does not impose a similar early departure requirement on other students who take a bus, would result in

discrimination in violation of Section 504. In this example, the school, by unnecessarily requiring students with certain mobility disabilities to leave class 20 minutes early every day, would unlawfully limit the opportunities that the students with disabilities have, relative to their non-disabled peers, to participate in or benefit from educational services at the school.

In addition, the school's blanket practice would raise FAPE concerns because the practice applies to all students with certain mobility disabilities without considering each student with a mobility disability individual needs. Instead, the policy is based on the bus transportation schedule and administrative convenience. Unless the school makes an individual determination through the FAPE process that a student with a disability requires a shortened school day to receive FAPE, students with disabilities are entitled to an entire school day that is as long as the school day for students without disabilities.

Similarly, if a school repeatedly sends a student with a disability home early, in response to her disruptive behavior in class, but does not do so for her non-disabled peers who engage in similar behavior, the different treatment would be unlawful. This fact scenario would also raise FAPE concerns if the student is not able to receive the services outlined in her IEP or Section 504 plan because she is repeatedly sent home early. This determination would have to be made on a case-by-case basis depending on the facts and circumstances.

Bullying and Harassment

This section includes language that is undeniably offensive and may be painful to many readers. OCR hopes the benefit of including examples to reflect the harsh reality of harassment at school helps school personnel, parents, and students understand the rights of students with disabilities who are harassed and how schools must respond, and that it outweighs the cost of offending some readers of this document.

Section 504 prohibits disability-based harassment by peers that is sufficiently serious to deny or limit a student's ability to participate in or benefit from the school's education programs and activities (in other words, creates a hostile environment). When a school district knows or reasonably should know of possible disability-based harassment, it must take immediate and appropriate steps to investigate or otherwise determine what occurred. If an investigation reveals that the harassment created a hostile environment, the recipient must take prompt and effective steps reasonably calculated to end the harassment, eliminate the hostile environment, prevent the harassment from recurring, and, as appropriate, remedy its effects.

Bullying and harassment of a student by his or her peers, based on disability, may deny a student equal educational opportunity. Note, however, that the label used to describe an incident (for example, bullying, hazing, teasing) does not determine how a school is obligated to respond. Rather, the nature of the conduct itself must be assessed for civil rights implications.

Harassment of a student by another student (peer-on-peer) on the basis of his or her disability may take many forms, such as a student remarking out loud to other students during class that a student with dyslexia is *retarded* or *dumb* and does not belong in the class, or students repeatedly placing classroom furniture or other objects in the path of a classmate who uses a wheelchair, impeding the classmate's ability to enter the classroom. Note that harassment does not have to include intent to harm, be directed at a specific targeted student, or involve repeated incidents in order for it to be considered discriminatory.

A school is responsible for promptly and effectively addressing harassment about which it knows, or reasonably should have known. In some situations, harassment may be in plain sight, widespread, or well-known to students and staff, such as harassment occurring in hallways, during academic or physical education classes, during extracurricular activities, at recess, during lunch, on a school bus, or through graffiti in public areas. In these cases, the obvious signs of the harassment are sufficient to put the school on notice. In other situations, the school may become aware of a single incident of misconduct that triggers an investigation that could lead to the discovery of additional incidents that, taken together, may contribute to the creation of a hostile environment. In all cases, schools must provide notice of their policies prohibiting harassment and procedures for reporting and resolving complaints that will alert the school to incidents of harassment.

Appropriate steps to end harassment may include separating the student who was harassed and the student(s) engaged in the harassing behavior, providing counseling for the students, or taking disciplinary action against the harasser. These steps should not penalize the student who was harassed.

For example, any separation of the targeted student from an alleged harasser should be designed to minimize the burden on the targeted student's educational program (for example, not requiring the targeted student to change his or her class schedule). In addition, depending on the extent of the harassment, the school may need to provide training or other interventions not only for the perpetrators, but also for the larger school community, to ensure that all students, their families, and school staff can recognize harassment if it recurs and know how to respond.

Schools also have responsibilities under Section 504's FAPE requirements when a student with a disability is harassed or bullied on *any* basis (for example, bullied based on disability, or national origin, or homelessness, or appearance). This is because the bullying or harassment can result in a denial of FAPE under Section 504 and, if that occurs, it must be remedied. FAPE may be denied to a student when, for example, the effects of the bullying include adverse changes in the student's academic performance or behavior.

If the school has reason to suspect the student's needs have changed, the Section 504 team must determine the extent to which additional or different services are needed, ensure that any needed changes are made promptly, and safeguard against putting the onus on the student with the disability to avoid or handle the bullying.

Disputes and Disagreements Regarding FAPE and non-FAPE Matters

Conflicts between parents and school personnel about Section 504 issues may be resolved through due process or through the school district's established grievance procedures.

School districts are required to establish and implement a system of procedural safeguards for parents to appeal district actions regarding the identification, evaluation, or educational placement of students with disabilities who need or are believed to need special education or related services. This obligation may be more commonly known as *due process*.

Examples of the types of complaints that are appropriately resolved through due process include: whether a student has a disability and is eligible for special education and or related services; whether a student with a disability requires further evaluation in order to devise an appropriate plan of services; or whether the scope of the evaluation or the current services is sufficient to meet the student's individual educational needs.

On the other hand, parents and others (for example, advocacy organizations) can attempt to resolve a range of other types of complaints, for example, complaints regarding disability-based harassment, different treatment, or a lack of accessible facilities or programs, through a district's grievance procedure.

Note, a school district cannot satisfy the requirement to have due process procedures by relying on its grievance procedure, nor can a district require a parent to pursue a FAPE-related complaint through the grievance procedure before a hearing under the system of procedural safeguards will be granted. Districts must ensure that they have due process procedures that are available to parents, as required.

Procedural Safeguards. Under Section 504, school districts are required to develop and implement a system of procedural safeguards to address FAPE concerns specifically, such as the identification, evaluation, and educational placement of students with disabilities.

Procedural safeguards include notice; an opportunity for records review by parents or guardians; an impartial due process hearing, with an opportunity for participation by the student's parents or guardian and representation by counsel; and a review procedure.

School districts must provide notice to parents explaining any evaluation and placement decisions affecting their children and explain the parents' right to review relevant records and contest any decision regarding evaluation and placement through an impartial hearing.

Examples of relevant records could include: evaluation reports, report cards, a Section 504 plan, discipline records, and health records. Schools can provide parents with access to relevant records by, for example, providing copies of the records or allowing parents to review the records at the school and make copies.

Grievance Procedures

School districts are required to establish grievance procedures for resolving complaints related to those cases where the complainants allege that employees, other students, or third parties engaged in discriminatory behavior. The grievance procedures must ensure that complaints are resolved in a prompt and equitable manner. In evaluating whether a school district's grievance procedures are prompt and equitable, OCR will examine, for example, the extent to which notice of the procedures has been provided to students, parents, and employees of the school; whether the procedures afford an opportunity for an adequate, reliable, and impartial investigation; whether reasonably prompt timeframes have been established for the various stages of the complaint process; whether notice of the outcomes of the complaint has been provided to the parties; and whether there is an assurance that any violations will be addressed, and steps will be taken to prevent a recurrence.

Section 504 Coordinators. School districts with 15 or more employees must designate an employee (sometimes referred to as a Section 504 Coordinator) to coordinate the district's efforts to comply with Section 504. In addition to coordinating and monitoring compliance with Section 504 within a school district Section 504 Coordinators will often distribute Section 504-related forms, documents, and information to parents; provide staff with information about Section 504 policies, practices, and procedures to help ensure that they fulfill their responsibilities in a timely and appropriate manner; respond to parent complaints; and complete other Section 504-related tasks within schools as necessary.

For Questions or Concerns:

Winthrop Public Schools
504 Coordinator
Lori A. Gallivan
Executive Director of Curriculum, Instruction & Accountability
Igallivan@winthrop.k12.ma.us
(617) 846-5543 Ext. 125

Notice of Non-Discrimination. School districts must provide notice identifying the district's Section 504 coordinator and notifying participants, beneficiaries, applicants, and employees, that it does not discriminate based on disability in admission or access to, or treatment or employment in its program or activity. There are various methods a district may use to provide notice, including websites, handbooks, or postings.

Retaliation

Section 504 prohibits retaliation. For example, once a student, parent, teacher, coach, or other individual complains formally or informally to a school about a potential civil rights violation or participates in an OCR investigation or proceeding, school staff are prohibited from retaliating (including intimidating, threatening, coercing, or in any way discriminating against the individual) because of the individual's complaint or participation.

The ability of individuals to oppose discriminatory practices, and to participate in OCR investigations and other proceedings—whether by filing a complaint or by providing OCR with his or her testimony or documentary evidence—are Federally protected activities and necessary to ensure equal educational opportunity in accordance with Federal civil rights laws.

Discriminatory practices are often only raised and remedied when students, parents, teachers, coaches, and others can report such practices to school administrators without the fear of retaliation. Individuals should be commended when they raise concerns about compliance with the Federal civil rights laws, not punished for doing so.

Title II and the IDEA

Two additional laws that apply to school districts' obligations to students with disabilities in the elementary and secondary public-school context are Title II of the ADA (Title II) and the IDEA. This section outlines major differences among Section 504, Title II, and the IDEA; highlights similarities; and provides examples that illustrate the fact that students with disabilities may be protected under two or all three of these Federal laws simultaneously.

OCR does not enforce the IDEA; however, OCR does enforce the Section 504 and Title II rights of IDEA-eligible students with disabilities. This means that OCR can investigate allegations that a school district violated the Section 504 and Title II rights, including Section 504 FAPE rights, of students who have an IEP under the IDEA.

Title II of the ADA prohibits State and local governments from discriminating based on disability, regardless of whether or not those entities receive Federal financial assistance. OCR and the U.S. Department of Justice share in the enforcement of Title II in public elementary and secondary education systems and institutions, public institutions of higher education, vocational education (other than schools of medicine, dentistry, nursing, and other health-related schools), and public libraries.

Violations of Section 504 that result from a school district's failure to meet the obligations identified in this resource guide also constitute violations of Title II; however, to the extent that Title II provides additional or greater protection than Section 504, covered entities must comply with Title II's requirements.

The IDEA Part B is a formula grant program that provides assistance to States, and through them to local school districts, to assist in providing special education and related services to children with disabilities. Special education is defined under the IDEA as specially designed instruction, at no cost to parents, to meet the unique needs of a child with a disability and related services are defined as supportive services that are required to assist a child with a disability to benefit from special education.

Unlike Section 504 and Title II, IDEA is not enforced by OCR. The Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services (OSERS) within the U.S. Department of Education is responsible for administering the IDEA. OSERS' responsibilities include promulgating regulations and issuing guidance documents about the IDEA as well as monitoring State educational agencies' compliance with the IDEA. OSERS also awards formula grants to States, including through the IDEA Part B program, and makes discretionary grants to eligible applicants.

The IDEA differs from Section 504 and Title II in several ways.

While the IDEA focuses on special educational services for children with disabilities and the related rights afforded to eligible students and their parents, Title II and Section 504 focus on the nondiscrimination rights of students as well as other individuals with disabilities who are not students, such as family members with disabilities and members of the public with disabilities seeking information from, or access to, the services, programs, and activities of the public school. For example, under Title II and Section 504, parents with disabilities must be able to attend their children's school play or attend Parent Teacher Association meetings if other parents are able to do so.

Additionally, disabilities are defined differently under the IDEA than under Section 504 and Title II. Under the IDEA, a child with a disability means a child who has been evaluated in accordance with IDEA requirements as having a specified disability and to need special education and related services because of that disability. The IDEA and its implementing regulations include 13 disability categories: autism, deaf-blindness, deafness, emotional disturbance, hearing impairment, intellectual disability, multiple disabilities, orthopedic impairment, other health impairment, specific learning disability, speech or language impairment, traumatic brain injury, and visual impairment including blindness. However, States can recognize that a child is "a child with a disability" under the IDEA if the child needs special education and related services, regardless of whether the child fits within a specific disability category.

If a school district finds a student ineligible for services under the IDEA, the school district is not relieved of its obligations under Section 504 or Title II; it is still required to consider if the student has a disability under Section 504 or Title II.

Section 504 and Title II require that an individual with a disability have a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits a major life activity or bodily function.

There are no categories of disabilities under Section 504 and Title II; nor is there a requirement that an individual need special education and related services under Section 504 to be considered an individual with a disability. However, a child who has a disability who requires only a related service could be considered an individual with a disability for purposes of Section 504 and would be entitled to FAPE services under Section 504.

As a result, all students with disabilities who are eligible for special education and related services under IDEA are protected by Section 504 and Title II. The inverse, however, is not true. Not all students protected by Section 504 and Title II are IDEA-eligible students.

Among the protections afforded students with disabilities under Title II is the right to effective communication.

Among the auxiliary aids and services that help to ensure effective communication for students with disabilities are listed below.

- qualified interpreters
- note takers
- exchange of written materials
- Braille materials and displays
- assistive listening systems
- accessible electronic and information technology
- open and closed captioning
- •a portable device that writes and/or produces speech
- taped texts
- audio recordings
- •real-time computer-aided transcription services

(for example, Communication Access Real-Time translation (CART))

- screen reader software
- magnification software
- optical readers
- secondary auditory programs (SAP)
- large print materials
- word or letter boards
- writing materials
- spelling to communicate
- qualified readers
- telecommunications services

The clear majority of students who have disabilities affecting communication, such as hearing, vision, and speech disabilities, and who often rely on the types of auxiliary aids and services listed above are also IDEA-eligible. School districts must therefore ensure that they comply with both the IDEA and the effective communication requirements under Title II for students with disabilities.

Conclusion

When disability-based discrimination occurs within the school setting, it can be the result of an error, oversight, or misunderstanding, as opposed to an intentional desire to break the law. Regardless of cause, however, the effect on a student with a disability can be both profound and devastating. Therefore, schools must ensure that students with disabilities are properly identified in a timely manner and are consistently provided the services and other protections to which they are entitled under the law.

OCR notes that representatives from schools and districts around the country are adopting a wide range of possible approaches to help facilitate this outcome. For example, via trainings, parent meetings, and in other informal settings, school and district administrators often encourage staff and parents to:

- (i) Promote early identification and evaluation of students by attending to and reporting signs and indicators of a possible disability;
- (ii) Secure detailed and comprehensive information from various sources (for example, family members, doctors, school nurses, teachers, social workers) prior to making eligibility and service-related decisions on behalf of a student who may have a disability;
- (iii) Communicate with appropriate teachers and non-classroom staff members (for example, coaches, gym teachers, librarians, cafeteria workers) about the aids and services to which a student with a disability may be entitled;
- (iv) Consider the context within which different school staff interact with students (for example, a gymnasium versus a classroom) when making decisions about the aids and services that will be most effective in meeting a student's needs;
- (v) Monitor implementation of aids and services to assess effectiveness and ensure consistent provision of these aids and services by all school staff (for example, by teachers in different classrooms);
- (vi) Encourage communication on a regular basis between home and school, and among relevant school staff, regarding all students, but in particular, students with disabilities;
- (vii) Observe interpersonal relationships among students and interactions between staff and students to identify and address signs of a hostile school environment and bullying;
- (viii) Document, via emails, letters, notes, or other means, important information (for example, key meetings and conversations, relevant dates, decisions, and actions taken) relating to parent and staff efforts to secure or provide aids and services to a student with a disability; address incidents of bullying and harassment; or raise and resolve disagreements and disputes;
- (ix) Attend to the issue of accessibility when considering structural changes and improvements to buildings and facilities; the purchase of new instructional technology; the placement or location of

curricular and extracurricular programs and activities both on and off campus; and the use of certain curricula or instructional methods, tools, and devices; and

(x) Stay informed about parent and student rights, staff responsibilities and obligations, and other policies and procedures that must be adhered to in order to comply with Section 504 and other disability rights laws.

In these and many other ways, parents and school staff are working to help reduce the likelihood that disability-based discrimination will occur in our schools and classrooms.

SCENARIOS

Scenario 1 – Suspected Disability & Evaluation

Rosita is a fourth-grade student at her local public elementary school. Her teacher notices that Rosita has trouble concentrating during class lessons and that it takes Rosita significantly longer than most students to complete in-class assignments. While the teacher acknowledges that it is very difficult for Rosita to stay seated and on-task, she does not think Rosita needs special education services because she is earning B's and C's. What should the teacher do?

In this situation, Rosita's teacher needs to inform the proper individuals in the school system that Rosita needs to be evaluated. It is only through an evaluation process that a school district can properly determine if a student has a disability and needs Section 504 services. Note that grades alone, whether good or bad, do not necessarily indicate whether a student has or does not have a disability. Even if Rosita does not require special education, she could still receive other Section 504 services if she meets the Section 504 definition of disability and needs related aids or services or supplemental services. For example, Rosita may have ADHD and may, because of her ADHD, need extra time to complete assignments and assistance from a classroom aide to stay on task during class. However, even if Rosita does not require either special education or related aids and services, as long as she is a student with a disability under Section 504, she is still protected under that law from other forms of discrimination (for example, bullying and harassment). The teacher's referral of Rosita for evaluation is central to complying with Section 504 here.

Scenario 2 – Suspected Disability & Involvement of Knowledgeable People

Robert's seventh grade teachers report that he often falls asleep, without warning, during class and misses instruction. His parents insist that he gets a good night sleep but note that their pediatrician told them Robert might have narcolepsy, a chronic brain disorder that involves poor control of sleep and wake patterns. What should the teachers do?

Staff should seek an evaluation to determine whether Robert has a physical or mental impairment that is interfering with his ability to stay awake. The group who meets to review this evaluation and make a decision about services must consist of knowledgeable people (for example, school nurses, teachers, counselors, psychologists, school administrators, social workers, doctors, etc.) who, in interpreting evaluation data and determining the needed services, carefully review and analyze information collected from a variety of sources (for example, the pediatrician's report; aptitude and psychological test results; the student's grade reports; teacher observations; the student's social and cultural background; the student's family).

If the evaluation, which must be conducted at no cost to the parents or student, shows that the student has a disability, then the knowledgeable group (that is, people who are knowledgeable about the student, the meaning of the evaluation data and about the placement options), must together determine placement, including the special education or related aids and services the student needs under Section 504.

Scenario 3 - Disabilities in Remission

Doctors diagnosed Omar with cancer at the beginning of the summer break, between fourth grade and fifth grade. When initially diagnosed, Omar was weak and tired all the time, and, at times, unable to even get out of bed or dress or feed himself. He received chemotherapy in July and August and returned to school, without any symptoms of his disease, at the beginning of the school year. At that time his parents informed the school of Omar's cancer diagnosis. It is now November and doctors have informed Omar's parents that his disease appears to be in remission. Omar's mom notes that he runs and plays like all the other children and his grades are great. How would a group of knowledgeable persons determine if Omar has a disability?

A student who has an impairment that is episodic (for example, epilepsy or post-traumatic stress disorder) or in remission is considered to be a person with a disability if, when active (that is, when symptoms are evident or reoccur), the impairment substantially limits a major life activity. When active, Omar's illness left him weak and unable to get out of bed. In other words, when active, cancer substantially limits his ability to care for himself which, under Federal law, is a major life activity. Moreover, the cancer substantially limits the major bodily function of normal cell growth, which is also a major life activity under Federal law. For this reason, the group of knowledgeable persons would determine that Omar is a student with a disability.

However, he may or may not require special education or related aids and services that are designed to meet his individual educational needs as adequately as the needs of non-disabled students are met. Even if Omar does not need special education or related aids and services, he would still be protected under Section 504, for example, from bullying and harassment based on his disability.

Scenario 4 – Appropriate Testing

Juan is a student in the third grade. His teacher tests reading comprehension with written in-class quizzes. Juan has trouble finishing the quizzes on time, and his answers are short and incomplete. Because of the poor responses on the quizzes, Juan's teacher believes he may have a disability related to his ability to understand what he reads (reading comprehension skills). The school conducts an evaluation that requires Juan to read a passage and to write responses to a series of questions about the passage. Was this testing appropriate to evaluate Juan's suspected disability?

This test would not be appropriate for determining whether Juan has a disability related to reading comprehension if he has a disability related to writing. Specifically, if Juan struggles with writing, such as trouble staying in the margins, organizing words left to right and getting words on paper, Juan may have a disability related to his ability to write manually and may not score well on the test because he cannot finish answering questions in the time given, not because he does not understand the reading passage. In this example, Juan may have excellent reading comprehension skills, but his inability to write well quickly may result in a low-test score.

Scenario 5 – Timeframes for Evaluation

Mr. Williams is very concerned. In September, two weeks after the new school year began, his 16-year-old son told him that he was having a hard time hearing his teacher and, as a result, he is unable to take detailed notes during class lectures. The school promised to evaluate the student, and Mr. Williams consented to the evaluation before the end of September. However, it is now December, and, to date, his son has not been evaluated. Should the school have completed the evaluation before December?

Most likely, yes. Section 504 does not provide a specific amount of time for school districts to complete an evaluation. However, under the IDEA (another Federal law that protects students with disabilities and of which schools should be aware), an initial evaluation must be conducted within 60 days of receiving parental consent for the evaluation or if the State has established a different timeframe for conducting the evaluation, within that timeframe. OCR generally looks to the IDEA timeline, or if applicable, to State requirements or local district policy to assess the reasonableness of the time it takes the school to evaluate the student once parental consent has been obtained.

Scenario 6 – Disagreement Over Need to Evaluate

Maya is a good student who has an A in reading, an A in math, and a B in each of her other classes. She maintains these grades even though she has been absent several times since the beginning of the school year for a gastrointestinal disorder. In addition, she often must leave school early because of vomiting. Maya's mom took Maya to the doctor and, the following week, Maya's mom presented Maya's teacher with a medical report indicating that Maya suffers from gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD). Maya's mom then asked the teacher if the school would evaluate Maya to see if she is eligible for Section 504 services. The teacher told Maya's mom not to worry, noting that an evaluation "is not necessary at this time because Maya continues to do well in all her classes." The teacher then promised to let Maya's mother know immediately if Maya's grades begin to decline. Should the teacher have responded in this manner?

No. Not every illness will automatically result in Section 504 protection for the affected student. On the other hand, even if a student earns good grades, he or she may still have a disability. For example, even if Maya's disease did not interfere with her ability to attend school, she might still be determined to be a student with a disability under Section 504 because the disease substantially limits a major life activity (that is, her ability to digest food). In such a situation, Maya may not need special education or related aids and services; however, she would still be protected (for example, from bullying and harassment based on disability) under Section 504.

Given these specific facts—a medically-diagnosed problem with the student's digestive system, and the parent's report that the student is frequently forced to miss school because of this medical problem—Section 504 would require the school to refer Maya for a Section 504 evaluation to determine whether she needs special education or related aids and services, including modifications, because of a disability. Note that if the school fails to conduct an evaluation of the student and it is later determined that a school evaluation was necessary, and that Maya needed,

but did not receive, special education and/or related aids and services, the school would be in violation of Section 504 and may be required to provide compensatory services for Maya for the period during which the school failed to offer FAPE.

The Section 504 regulations require school districts to draw upon information from a variety of sources in interpreting evaluation data and making placement decisions. In other words, while a medical diagnosis alone can inform school staff about whether a student has a disease that substantially limits a major life activity, it is unlikely that a medical diagnosis alone will also provide enough information for school staff to determine what services the student needs. Other information that could also be collected and analyzed includes, for example, attendance records, parent information, grade reports, aptitude and achievement tests, teacher recommendations, and the student's physical condition, social or cultural background, and adaptive behavior. The type of tests and other information obtained will vary for each individual student depending on the suspected impairment.

In this scenario, Maya has a disability. Because Maya's medically diagnosed impairment interferes with her ability to attend school, the school district may need to, among other things, modify how the school's attendance policy applies to Maya to ensure that Maya is given extra time to complete assignments when she is absent because of her disability and that she is not penalized for absences resulting from her disability.

Finally, even if the teacher did not make the referral because she did not believe that Maya needed special education or related services as a result of her digestive disorder, the teacher or other school personnel should have provided Maya's mother with a copy of the district's procedural safeguards, which would include information about the opportunity to have an impartial hearing to resolve the disagreement over Maya's need for an evaluation, and an opportunity to review her daughter's records.

Section 504 requires school districts to conduct periodic reevaluations of students with disabilities. Section 504 also requires school districts to conduct reevaluations prior to significant changes in placement.

- OCR considers an exclusion from the educational program (for example, an out-of-school suspension) of more than 10 consecutive school days to be a significant change in placement.
- OCR also considers a series of short-term exclusions (each 10 school days or fewer) from the educational program to be a significant change in placement if the short-term exclusions total more than 10 school days *and* create a pattern of removal.
- OCR also considers a school's transferring a student from one type of program to another (for example, from a general education class with pull-out special education services to a self-contained special education class) or terminating or significantly reducing a related service to be a significant change in placement.

In addition, when addressing discipline for students with disabilities, it is important that schools comply with applicable legal requirements governing the discipline of a child for misconduct caused by, or related to, the child's disability.

Scenario 7 - Reevaluations and FAPE

Salim is a student with a disability and he has a Section 504 plan. At the start of the spring semester, he received an out-of-school suspension for 12 consecutive school days. Is the school required to reevaluate Salim?

Yes. Although the Section 504 regulations do not set a specific timeframe within which students with disabilities must be reevaluated to make sure that they are receiving the appropriate services, Section 504 requires schools to conduct reevaluations periodically, and before a significant change in placement. OCR considers an exclusion from the educational program of more than 10 consecutive school days to be a significant change in placement. In this example, the school must reevaluate Salim, prior to imposing the 11th day of suspension, to determine whether his misconduct is caused by or related to his disability (manifestation determination), and if so to further evaluate to determine if his current placement is appropriate.

Scenario 8 – Accessibility

Ayana recently enrolled in a school that does not have an elevator. The school was built in the early 1960s and, due to limited resources, the district has never altered the building. Ayana, who is unable to walk upstairs due to her disability, is dismayed when she discovers that the art studio is on the second floor; she had planned to take an art class the following semester. What should the school do to address this situation?

Districts are not required to make each existing facility or every part of an existing facility accessible if the facility in question was constructed before June 4, 1977; however, districts must still provide students with disabilities access to the program or activity in question. Access to programs operated by a school in older facilities that are totally or partially inaccessible may, in some instances, be provided through means other than structural change, such as relocation of programs. School districts are required to have procedures in place to ensure that parents, students, and other interested persons can obtain information about the location of services, activities, and facilities that are accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities. The school in this scenario is an existing facility because it was built before June 4, 1977, and therefore, program access is required to ensure compliance with Section 504 and the ADA. The school may, for example, move the art studio to a room on the first floor so that Ayana has an equal opportunity to participate in the art class with her peers.

Scenario 9 – Unjustified Different Treatment

Ricardo has a peanut allergy. His fourth-grade class is going on a field trip to the local aquarium and Ricardo's father is told that he must chaperone Ricardo on the trip because the teachers will be very busy and cannot ensure that Ricardo will be protected from exposure to peanuts or peanut products while on the trip, especially during the lunch break. Ricardo's father cannot go on the field trip because he must go to work. As a result, the teachers tell Ricardo he cannot attend the field trip. Ricardo's father complains to the principal, noting that no other parent is required to attend the field trip?

No. In this case, none of the parents of students without disabilities were told that they must attend the field trip; therefore, the school may not require Ricardo's father's attendance simply because Ricardo has a disability. Under Section 504, the school is responsible for making it possible for Ricardo to participate in this learning opportunity like his peers, without parental assistance.

Scenario 10 – Procedural Safeguards

Ms. Lee told staff at her son's school that she believes her son has a disability because he cannot seem to sit still and concentrate on his assignments. Although Ms. Lee has made multiple requests, the school has refused to evaluate him because the teachers do not believe the student has a disability. Ms. Lee does not receive any communication from the school about why they will not evaluate her son. Is the school's approach permissible?

No, a school cannot simply ignore a parent's request for his or her child to be evaluated, even if the school does not believe that the student has a disability. A school district is required to establish, implement, and inform parents about a system of procedural safeguards that are designed to help resolve FAPE-related disagreements regarding identification, evaluation, or educational placement of a student. As part of this system, a school must notify parents of any evaluation or placement actions and inform parents of their right to:

- (i) examine records or documents that the school relied on in making its decision about the student;
- (ii) request an impartial hearing that provides the parent with an opportunity to participate and permits representation by an attorney; and
- (iii) have an opportunity for review of the decision made at the hearing.

Scenario 11 - Retaliation

Ms. Chen, the mother of a student with a disability, complained privately to the principal that her daughter and other students with disabilities are not receiving an appropriate education at the school. The situation did not improve so Ms. Chen raised the issue with the principal again at a recent Parent Teacher Association meeting in front of other parents and teachers. The following week, Ms. Chen, who had been a helpful and effective classroom volunteer for many months,

received a letter from the principal indicating that Ms. Chen can no longer volunteer in her daughter's classroom. Moreover, the principal offers no explanation for this change in policy in the letter. Ms. Chen asks around and learns that none of the other parent volunteers received a similar letter. May the principal do that?

Denying Ms. Chen, the ability to volunteer in her daughter's classroom would be unlawful retaliation if the school did so because the parent complained to the principal that her daughter was not receiving FAPE (either initially or in front of the Parent Teacher Association). However, if the school did so for a legitimate reason (for example, because the parent was disrupting instruction or endangering students), then the school may not have violated Section 504. The ultimate determination will depend on whether evidence indicates that the school's actions were based on a legitimate reason for keeping the parent out of the classroom or if the school's explanation was a pretext (excuse) for retaliation or if retaliation was a motivating factor in addition to the legitimate reason. In this case, the school had no evidence to suggest that Ms. Chen had been, or would likely be, disruptive or dangerous. Therefore, if the school allowed other parents, who did not file a complaint, to continue to volunteer in class, these facts would suggest that forbidding Ms. Chen from volunteering based on concern about disrupting class or endangering students is pretext and that the sole reason for banning her from class was to retaliate because she raised her concerns about services for students with disabilities.

Section 504/ADA STAFF RESPONSIBILITIES

District Section 504/ADA Coordinator

- · Coordinates district efforts to comply with Section 504 and ADA regulations including training of appropriate staff.
- · Assures publication of Child Find Notice and distributes copy of posting at all district sites.
- · Facilitates the electronic storage of all Section 504 Accommodation Plans to be accessed by the Section 504 Plan Building Coordinators.
- · Keeps an active Student Information System on all students who have Section 504 Accommodation Plans.
- · Investigates complaints of discrimination, not addressed on the building level.
- · Reviews Section 504 Accommodation Plans and Evaluation Summaries if proposed accommodations require resources beyond the school level.
- · Organizes district response to any complaint filed with the Office for Civil Rights.

Building Principal

- · Receives, reviews and signs all proposed Section 504 Accommodation Plans and sends and collects all signed plans from parents/guardians.
- · Coordinates school efforts to comply with Section 504 regulations, including training of school staff as deemed appropriate.
- · Assures posting of Child Find Notice annually.
- · Accepts and reviews school 504 complaints, organizes and conducts investigations, and attempts to resolve any complaints/concerns.

School Section 504 Building Coordinator

- · Establishes School's Section 504 Team and serves as chairperson of Team(s).
- · Guides 504 referral, evaluation, assessment and service delivery process.
- · Consults with District 504 Coordinator as needed.
- · Forwards a copy of each Section 504 Accommodation Plan to the Building Principal for signature and then an electronic scan of the signed document to the District 504 Coordinator.
- · Maintains a master list of students in his/her building of those students with 504 Plans, including name, grade, major life activity area impacted, annual review date and projected reevaluation date and identifies such students on the district's IPASS system.
- · Designates other support staff in assisting and gathering documentation, scheduling appropriate meetings, and notifying appropriate staff regarding evaluations (assessments).

WINTHROP PUBLIC SCHOOLS SECTION 504 PLACEMENT PROCESS/CHECKLIST

The following process is intended to assist staff at both the building level and in regard to Special Education when determining a student's eligibility, accommodations and/or services under Section 504.

Students should be brought before the building based MTSS Team whenever possible, prior to being referred for a 504 Determination.

A student may be identified for a Section 504 referral by a parent, teacher, counselor, nurse, physician or anyone who is familiar with the child and suspects a disability may be interfering with the child's ability to access his/her education or may need accommodations to access a free and appropriate public education (FAPE). A student may be referred because of a Building Based MTSS team finding or because of an IDEA action. The individual making the referral should contact the Section 504 Building Coordinator.
The parent of the child is notified of the referral through the Parent Notice of Section 504 Referral and the parent of the child is asked to give consent (Consent for Section 504 Evaluation Form). The evaluation should be complete in 45 school working days from receipt of parental consent. A copy of the Winthrop Public Schools Parents', Guardian' and Students' Rights which detail the procedural safeguard under Section 504.
The Section 504 Building Coordinator contacts the appropriate school staff, e.g. school counselor, classroom teacher(s), nurse to assist in the Student Record Review and evaluation process.
A Section 504 Notice of Eligibility Meeting is sent to the parent by the Section 504 Building Coordinator.
At the Section 504 Team meeting, the Section 504 Eligibility Determination form is completed to document the team decision. A Second copy of the Parents', Guardians' and Students' Rights are given, and notes of the meeting are kept. If the student is determined to be <i>ineligible</i> for a Section 504 Accommodation Plan the parent is notified using a copy of the Section 504 Eligibility Determination . If the student is <i>eligible</i> under Section 504, the Section 504 Accommodation Plan is written at the meeting; implementation begins upon consent from the parent for the initial 504 Plan. Under Section 504, parent written consent to subsequent

plans is not required, but it should always be considered best practice. The Section 504 Accommodation Plan and supporting documentation are sent to the Building Principal for his/her signature and sent to the parent/guardian for his/her written approval of the plan. Once the Section 504 Accommodation Plan is returned to the Building 504 Coordinator, they are responsible for identifying and maintaining the student 504 status in the school district's records and sending an electronic copy to the District 504 Coordinator. A copy of the Section 504 Accommodation Plan should be placed in the student's Section 504 file, which is kept by the Section 504 Building Coordinator. The Section 504 Accommodation Plan is distributed to all appropriate staff and should be kept as a confidential record. The Section 504 Accommodation Plan is considered a temporary student record and a copy should also be added to the students Cum Folder. The Section 504 Accommodation Plan is reviewed at least annually; a Notice of conference is sent to the parents. A new Section 504 Accommodation Plan is developed if appropriate. A copy of those forms and the Section 504 Parents'/Guardians' and Student Rights form is given to the parent/guardian and/or student. Consent is not required to implement changes to a subsequent 504 Plan. When a student with a current section 504 Accommodation Plan graduates or ages out, the emancipated student will be given a copy of their last plan and documentation. The file should be sent to the District 504 Coordinator. Winthrop Public Schools District 504 Coordinator: Lori A. Gallivan Executive Director of Curriculum, Instruction & Accountability Igallivan@winthrop.k12.ma.us

(617) 846-5543

SECTION 504 DISCIPLINE

Students served under Section 504 are treated like students served under IDEA regarding discipline. Specifically, students eligible for Section 504 can be disciplined pursuant to the code of conduct, but they do have some special protections.

Like students served under the IDEA, students eligible for Section 504 are entitled to a Manifestation Determination if the disciplinary consequence would result in a change of placement.

A change of placement, as it relates to discipline, is a removal from school for more than 10 consecutive school days, or a series of shorter removals that total more than 10 days if they create a pattern — 1. because the series of removals total more than 10 school days in a school year; 2. because the child's behavior is substantially similar to the child's behavior in previous incidents that resulted in the series of removals; and 3. because of such additional factors as the length of each removal, the total amount of time the child has been removed, and the proximity of the Removals to one another. Whether a pattern of removals constitutes a change in placement is determined on a case by case basis.

At a manifestation determination meeting, the school, the parent, and relevant members of the student's Team (as determined by the school and the parent) must review all relevant information in the student's file to determine if the conduct that led to the disciplinary consequence was caused by, or had a direct or substantial relationship to, the disability identified in the student's 504 plan, or if the conduct in question was the direct result of the school's failure to implement the Section 504 plan. Relevant people should include those with knowledge of the student and the information that will be reviewed. Relevant information should include the 504 plan, any teacher observations and any relevant information provided by the parents. It may also include, but is not limited to, attendance records, evaluations, and disciplinary records.

A Manifestation Determination meeting must be held within 10 school days of any decision to change the placement of a child with a disability.



Winthrop Public Schools

WINTHROP PUBLIC SCHOOL'S PARENTS'/GUARDIANS' AND STUDENTS' RIGHTS UNDER SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973

The following is a description of the rights granted by federal law (SECTION 504 of the REHABILITATION ACT of 1973) to students with disabilities. The intent of the law is to keep you fully informed concerning decisions about your child and to inform you of your rights if you disagree with any of these decisions.

You have a right to:

- 1. Have your child take part in and receive benefits from public education programs without discrimination because of his/her disability.
- 2. Have the school district advise you of your rights under federal law (The Purpose of this notice form is to advise you of those rights).
- 3. Receive notice with respect to identification, evaluation, or placement of your child;
- 4. Have your child receive a free appropriate public education. This includes the right to be educated with non-disabled students to the maximum extent appropriate. It also includes the right to have the school district make reasonable accommodations to allow your child an equal opportunity to participate in school-related activities.
- 5. Have your child educated in facilities and receive services comparable to those provided non-disabled students;
- 6. Your child has the right to free educational services except for those fees that are imposed on non-disabled students or their parents.
- 7. Have your child receive special education and related services if s/he is found to be eligible under the Individual with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) or **Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act**;
- 8. Your child has a right to an evaluation prior to an Initial Section 504 placement and any subsequent significant change in placement;
- 9. Testing and other evaluation procedures must conform with the requirements of 34 CFR 104.35 as to validation, administration, areas of evaluation, etc. The district shall consider, as appropriate, information from a variety of sources, including aptitude and achievement tests, teacher recommendations, physical condition, social and cultural background, adaptive behavior, physical or medical reports, student grades, progress reports, parent observations, anecdotal reports, and other sources.
- 10. Have evaluation, educational, and placement decisions made based upon a variety of information sources, and by persons who know the student, the evaluation data, and

placement options and least requirements for least restrictive environment and comparable facilities;

- 11. Have transportation provided to and from an alternate placement setting at no greater cost to you than would be incurred if the student were placed in a program operated by the district.
- 12. Have your child be given an equal opportunity to participate in nonacademic and extracurricular activities offered by the district;
- 13. Examine all relevant records relating to decisions regarding your child's identification, evaluation, education program, and placement;
- 14. Obtain copies of educational records at a reasonable cost unless the fee would effectively deny you access to the records;
- 15. A response from the school district to reasonable requests for explanations and interpretations of your child's records;
- 16. Request amendment of your child's educational records if there is reasonable cause to believe that they are inaccurate, misleading or otherwise in violation of the privacy rights of your child. If the school district refuses this request for amendment, it shall notify you within a reasonable time, and advise you of a right to a hearing;
- 17. If eligible under Section 504, your child has a right to a periodic formal or informal reevaluation, generally every three years;
- 18. On Section 504 matters you have a right to file a complaint with the district's Section 504 Coordinator (or designee), who will investigate the allegations to the extent warranted by the nature of the complaint to reach a prompt and equitable resolution;
- 19. Request mediation or an impartial due process hearing related to decisions or actions regarding your child's identification, evaluation, educational program or placement. You and the student may take part in the hearing and have an attorney represent you. Hearing requests must be made to:

Division of Administrative Law Appeals
Bureau of Special Education Appeals
One Congress Street, 11th Floor
Boston, MA 02114
T: (617) 626-7250

F: (617) 626-7270

- 20. If you disagree with the decision of the impartial hearing officer, you have a right to a review of that decision by a court of competent jurisdiction;
- 21. You also have a right to file a complaint with the Office for Civil Rights. The address of the Regional Office which covers Massachusetts is:

Office for Civil Rights, Region 1 U.S. Department of Education 5 Post Office Square, Suite 900, 8th Floor Boston, MA 02109-3921 Telephone: (617) 289-0111

Fax: (617) 289-0150



Winthrop Public Schools

Notice of Referral and Consent

[Date]

[Parent/Guardian Name]
[Parent/Guardian Address]

Re: [Student's Name]	
Dear Mr./Ms./Mrs.	

I am writing to you either because you have requested an evaluation of your child under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) or because Winthrop Public Schools is proposing an evaluation of your child to consider their eligibility under Section 504, we need your consent to perform an evaluation of your child.

Please find attached Winthrop Public Schools' Section 504 Parental/Guardian(s) Consent to Evaluate Form and its Notice of Parents'/Guardians' and Students' Rights Under Section 504. Please sign and return the Section 504 Parental/Guardian(s) Consent to Evaluate Form as soon as possible so that we may begin the evaluation process to determine whether or not your child is eligible for services under Section 504.

Should you have any questions or concerns, please call me at the following number: **[insert phone #].** Thank you in advance for your cooperation.

Sincerely,
Your Name
Building Level Section 504 Coordinator



Winthrop Public Schools Section 504

Parent /Guardian consent to Evaluate Form

Winthrop Public Schools has proposed an evaluation of my child,			
The Section 504 Team proposes the following assessments as part of the evaluation:			
☐ I give Winthrop Public Schools consent to evaluate my child for eligibility under Section 504 and consent to the proposed assessments listed above.			
 I do not give Winthrop Public Schools consent to evaluate my child for eligibility under Section 504. 			
Signature of Parent, Guardian, or Student 18 or over Date			
Sincerely,			
Your Name			
Building Level Section 504 Coordinator			



Winthrop Public Schools

Notice of Eligibility Meeting

[Date]

[Parent/Guardian Name] [Parent/Guardian Address]

Re: [Student's Name]	
Dear Mr./Ms./Mrs	

Winthrop Public Schools has received your consent to evaluate your child under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) and is inviting you to a meeting to determine your child's eligibility for services under Section 504. We value your input and encourage you to make every effort to participate in this meeting. The details of the meeting are as follow:

Meeting Date:
Meeting Time:
Meeting Location:
Contact Person:
Contact Information:

If you are unavailable on the above date and time, please contact the person identified above and we will work with you to find a mutually agreeable time to meet. Enclosed with this letter, please find a copy of the Winthrop Public Schools; Notice of Parents'/Guardians' and Students' Rights, which detail the procedural safeguards under Section 504. We request that you inform us in advance of the meeting, if you plan to invite any other individual(s) to join us.

We look forward to working with you cooperatively on behalf of your child.

Sincerely,
Your Name
Building Level Section 504 Coordinator

Winthrop Public Schools Section 504 Eligibility Determination Form

Name			_ DOR/_	/
School			_ Grade	
Disability				
	Used to Determine Eligibility (<i>Che</i> gical Evaluation or Physician Repor	• • • •		•
[] Report car	d (required) [] Teacher Report (r	equired) [] Parent inf	formation	
	ples [] Other nomic & Environmental Factors:			
	s limited academic and/or behaviond environmental circumstances.	ral performance is	_ is not cause	d by cultural,
Mitigating M	easures and Medication: Yes	No if yes, describe		
Major Life Ac	ctivity (MLA)			
Does the Disa	ability Substantially Limit MLA?			
complete hor students? If y	Has the student demonstrated mework assignments and in-schooves, indicate the types of assignmente for each type.	l assignments than is re	equired buy non-o	disabled
	Is modified testing consistently f yes, indicate the type of subject i	•		
mental impai	Is the student chronically absent rment and are absences or tardine of absences during the previous scl	ess' interfering with sch	ool performance	? If yes, indicate
	Has the student experienced a shown cause other than the diagnos		plinary interventi	ons for which

Yes No After at least two intervention strategies have been implemented in regular education, does the student still exhibit significant learning difficulties?			
Eligibility Determination			
Student Qualifies for a Section 504 Accommodation	on Plan		
Student has a physical or mental impairment: 1) Phendisfigurement or anatomical I or anatomical loss af psychological disorder.	•		
Identify Impairment:			
Student Does Not Qualify for a Section 504 Accom	modation Plan		
Student DOES NOT have a physical or mental disable activities does not have a record of such an impair Possible additional needs:	oility which substantially limits one or more major life ment or is regarded as having such an impairment.		
Health Care Plan Needed			
Health Care Plan Written	Date Written:		
*Parent/Guardian Signature	Date		
* Signature signifies that parent/guardian received	a copy of the eligibility determination.		

Winthrop Public Schools One Metcalf Square, Winthrop, Ma 02152

Section 504 Accommodation Plan

Effective Date:	Review Date:	
Name:	Student ID:	
Date of Birth:	Grade:	
School:	YOG:	
Parents/Guardians:		
Address: Winthrop, Ma 02152	Phone: Email:	
Summary of meeting to discuss student's disability		
Meeting Date: Participants in Meeting:	and request accommodation(s).	
Student's Disability:		
How does the disability affect one or more of the student's life activities in school?		

Parent/guardian and/or student concerns:

Winthrop Public Schools One Metcalf Square, Winthrop, Ma 02152

Section 504 Accommodation Plan

Effective Date: 00/00/0000		Review Date: 00/00/0000		
List of Evaluations:				
<u>Date</u>	<u>Type</u>	<u>Description</u>		
Student history and any evaluative data considered at meeting:				
Accommodations to be provided with	h responsible personnel noted a	and implementation dates:		
Signature of Parent, Guardian, or St	tudent (if 18 or older)	Date		
Signature of Principal or Designee		Date		
If the parent(s), guardian(s), or student (if 18 or older) disagrees with the identification of the student's disability, the evaluative data, or the accommodations to be provided, a grievance may be filed in conformance with the District's Grievance Procedure.				